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"GM ANNOUNCES FINAL RESULTS OF
SUCCESSFUL EXCHANGE OFFER

Showroom | (nternational

DETROIT - General Motors (NYSE: GM, GMH) today announced the
final results of its highly successful exchange offer of GM Class H
common stock for outstanding shares of GM $1-2/3 par value common
stock, including the final proration factor of 24.78958662 percent. The
exchange offer period concluded at midnight on May 19, 2000.

The exchange, which was substantially oversubscribed, effectively
accomplished the repurchase of about 14 percent of GM $1-2/3 stock
and, as a result, will have a significant favorable impact on GM $1-2/3
earnings per share going forward. In addition, GM's plan to contribute
up to $7 billion of Class H stock to certain of its employee benefit plans
would reduce GM's annual pension expense and other post-retirement
employee-benefit expense and would strengthen GM's financial
posttion.

Based on the final count by the exchange agent, 339,700,412 shares of
GM §1-2/3 stock were validly tendered, including 2,899,364 shares held
by eligible odd-lot stockholders. On the basis of 1.065 shares of Class H
stock for each share of GM $1-2/3 stock, in accordance with the
exchange ratio, GM has accepted 86,396,977 shares of GM $1-2/3 stock
in exchange for a total of 92,012,781 shares of Class H stock. All shares
of GM $1-2/3 stock tendered by eligible odd-lot stockholders have been
accepted; all other shares have been accepted at the proration factor
stated above. '

Morrow & Co., Inc. is GM's information agent for the share exchange.
Stockholders with questions about the share exchange may contact
Morrow & Co. toll-free within the United States at (877) 816-5329, or
collect from outside the U.S. at (212) 754-8000.

Shares of GM Class H will be credited promptly to accounts of
tendering stockholders by the stock transfer agent, registrar and
exchange agent, Fleet National Bank.

Morgan Stanley Dean Witter acted as dealer manager for General
Motors in connection with the exchange offer. Hughes engaged
Salomon Smith Barney, Inc. as marketing manager in connection with
the exchange offer.

GM has filed a final Registration Statement on Form S-4, including a
final prospectus, regarding the exchange offer referred to above and has
filed other documents with the SEC which contain related important
information, all of which investors are advised to read. Holders of GM
$1-2/3 common stock may obtain a free copy of the final prospectus and
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other documents filed by General Motors at the SEC's website at
www.sec.gov, at GM's website at www.gm.com, or from General
Motors by directing such request in writing or by telephone to: GM
Fulfillment Center, 30200 Stephenson Hwy. (MC 480-000-FC1),
Madison Heights, Mich. 48071, telephone: (313) 667-1500, menu
option #2. Inquiries from the news media should be directed to GM
Communications at (212) 418-6380.
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FOR RELEASE: June 06, 2000

GM ANNOUNCES THREE-FOR-ONE
SPLIT OF CLASS H STOCK

WILMINGTON, Del. - The General Motors Corp. (NYSE: GM,
GMH) Board of Directors today declared a three-for-one stock split of
GM Class H common stock. The stock split will be in the form of a 200
percent stock dividend, payable on June 30, 2000 to GM Class H
stockholders of record on June 13, 2000.

"The split will make the Class H stock substantially more liquid and
accessible to a broader range of investors," said General Motors
Chairman John F. Smith, Jr. "We believe that the appreciation in the
value of the Class H stock has made this the right course of action.” The
board's announcement follows stockholder approval, received at this
morning's GM annual stockholders' meeting, of a management proposal
to increase the number of authorized shares of GM Class H common
stock from 600 million shares to 3.6 billion shares. An amendment to
GM's certificate of incorporation implementing the increase was filed
today.

GM announced, in February 2000, a broad restructuring of its economic
interest in Hughes in order for GM and its stockholders to realize more
of the economic value of Hughes. General Motors repurchased about 14
percent of its outstanding GM $1-2/3 par value common stock using
approximately $9 billion of GM Class H common stock through a
successful exchange offer completed in May 2000. During the second
quarter of 2000, GM also plans to contribute up to $7 billion of Class H
stock to certain of its employee benefit plans.

GM's Class H stock is a tracking stock designed to provide holders with
financial returns based on the financial performance of Hughes
Electronics Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary of General Motors.
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FOR RELEASE: June 06, 2000

GM ANNOUNCES THREE-FOR-ONE
SPLIT OF CLASS H STOCK

WILMINGTON, Del. - The General Motors Corp. (NYSE: GM,
GMH) Board of Directors today declared a three-for-one stock split of
GM Class H common stock. The stock split will be in the form of a 200
percent stock dividend, payable on June 30, 2000 to GM Class H
stockholders of record on June 13, 2000,

"The split will make the Class H stock substantially more liquid and
accessible to a broader range of investors," said General Motors
Chairman John F. Smith, Jr. "We believe that the appreciation in the
value of the Class H stock has made this the right course of action." The
board's announcement follows stockholder approval, received at this
morning's GM annual stockholders' meeting, of a management proposal
to increase the number of authorized shares of GM Class H common
stock from 600 million shares to 3.6 billion shares. An amendment to
GM's certificate of incorporation implementing the increase was filed
today.

GM announced, in February 2000, a broad restructuring of its economic
interest in Hughes in order for GM and its stockholders to realize more
of the economic value of Hughes. General Motors repurchased about 14
percent of its outstanding GM $1-2/3 par value common stock using
approximately $9 billion of GM Class H common stock through a
successful exchange offer completed in May 2000. During the second
quarter of 2000, GM also plans to contribute up to $7 billion of Class H
stock to certain of its employee benefit plans.

GM's Class H stock is a tracking stock designed to provide holders with
financial returns based on the financial performance of Hughes
Electronics Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary of General Motors.
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FOR RELEASE: June 13, 2000

INVESTOR 5 AR GM ANNOUNCES $5.6 BILLION
CONTRIBUTION TO
EMPLOYEE-BENEFIT PLANS

DETROIT - General Motors (NYSE: GM, GMH) today

announced that on June 12, 2000, it contributed to certain of

its employee-benefit plans a total of 60.5 million shares of GM

Class H common stock, valued by the independent trustee for

the employee-benefit plans at approximately $5.6 billion. GM
contributed 53.6 million shares of Class H stock to its U.S.

Hourly-Rate Employees Pension Plan (Hourly Pension Plan)

and 6.9 million shares to its Welfare Benefit Trust, a voluntary
employees' beneficiary association trust established -
principally to fund health-care and life-insurance benefits for -
GM's hourly retirees. The employee-benefit-plan contributions

are part of GM's previously announced plan to restructure its :
economic interest in Hughes. These contributions will reduce -
GM's annual pension expense and other post-retirement o
employee-benefit expense, improve GM's operating earnings,

and will strengthen GM's overall financial position.

The newly contributed shares of Class H stock will be
managed by U.S. Trust Company of New York (U.S. Trust),
an independent trustee for each of the employee-benefit
plans. U.S. Trust has acted as trustee of the Hourly Pension
Plan with respect to its holdin%I of Electronic Data Systems
Corporation stock, formerly GM's Class E common stock,
since 1995. U.S. Trust has indicated that it intends to manage
the Class H common stock in substantially the same manner
as it has managed the EDS stock held by the Hourly Pension
Plan. A registration-rights agreement with GM will enable U.S.
Trust to sell the Class H stock in a manner consistent with
maintaining an orderly market for the stock and maximizing
the value of the plans' investment in the stock.

Recent History of GM Class H Stock

As part of GM's restructuring of its economic interest in
Hughes, which was announced in February 2000, General
Motors also recently completed a successful exchange offer.
Through the exchange offer, GM effectively repurchased
about 14 percent of its outstanding GM $1-2/3 par value
common stock in exchange for the issuance of approximately
$9 billion of Class H common stock. This reduction in the
number of GM $1-2/3 shares outstanding is expected to have
a significant favorable impact on GM $1-2/3 earnings per
share going forward.
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As a result of the exchange offer and employee-benefit-plan
contributions, the economic interest in Hughes attributable to
GM $1-2/3 par value common stock will decline from about 62
percent to approximately 30 percent, and the economic
interest in Hughes represented by outstanding Class H stock
will correspondingly increase from about 38 percent to
approximately 70 percent, in each case on a fully diluted

“basis. Hughes continues to be a wholly owned subsidiary of
General Motors.

Separately, as announced June 6, 2000, the GM Board of
Directors declared a three-for-one split of the GM Class H
stock in the form of a 200-percent stock dividend. The
dividend is payable on June 30, 2000, to GM Class H
stockholders of record on June 13, 2000, and will make the
Class H stock substantially more liquid and accessible to a
broader range of investors.

Class H stock is a tracking stock of GM designed to provide
holders with financial returns based on the financial
performance of GM's wholly owned Hughes Electronics
subsidiary.
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As of Jun. 22, 8.31pm ET

NYBE-OMLY CLOSE LABT TRADE CHANGE
| 60 il 601/4 T at4pm [ 21716 | -331% |
TOOAY'S
OPEN HIGH LOW VOLUME
611/2 62 60 4,612,400
SHABRES FREVIOUS . Fagvious S2-WEER
OVTSTANBING DAY'S CLDSE NYSE-OMLY CLOSE
HIGH LOW
94 5/8 59 3/4
| 621,181,000 || 625/16 || 625116 || (4/28/00) | (8/10/99)

Price/Eamings Ratio 6.66 I Earnings Per Sha 9.36

e o

Beta Coefficient 0.94 | Market Cap (bil.) 37.426

e el \ ,,’"; |

5:28pm GM, Toyota Reportedly In Taiks To Develop Recreational Vehicle - Dow
Jones Business News

2:48pm GM Scales Back Proposed Timeframe For Detivery Of Online Orders -
Dow Jones Businass News

1:07pm DaimierCh r. Hyundai Motor Continue Talks A Alliance - Dow
Jones Business News

7:48am Pegasus mynication ration Announces Twelve DBS
Acquisitions - PR Newswire

6:31am DaimlerCh r To 10% Stake In Hyundai Motor -Report - Dow
Jones Business News

hrtp:.. cgl.nyse.com/cgl-bmny_quote'?sym=gm
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SYMBOL: GMH NOTE: Stock data presented is 20 minutes delayed

Price in doilars

As of Jun, 22, 8:32pm ET

NYSE-ONILY CLOGE LASY TRADE CHANGE
[ 103 i1 103 | 4:04pm b +1116 1 +067% |
TODAY'S
OPEN HIGH LOW VOLUME
105 1/4 106 1/4 101 3/4 1,525,700
sSRANES PREVIOUVS PRABVISUS B2-WEREK
QUTSTANSING CAY'S CLOSE NYME-ONLY CLOGE
HIGH LOW
140 48 3/4
[ 252212,000 ][ 102516 || 1025/16 J| (3/23/00) (9/2/99)
Price/Eamings Ratio na I Earnings Per Share -1.13

> g e - oot i -

Beta Coefficient

’.0,';;; 3 Dow jones
“ = Susiness News

7:48am Pegasus Communications Corporation Announces Tweive DBS
Acquisitions - PR Newswire

12:58am Shareholders Expected To Approve AQL's $119.7 Billion Buyout Of
Time W - Dow Jones Business News
6/21/00 ADVISORY/Local High Scheol To Give Jazz Concert - Business Wire
6/20/00 QN24 Audio Investor Alert: Conference Call: Hughes Electronics

DIRECTV - Business Wire

6/20/00 Intelispan Chooses DirecPC to Deiiver Secure, Satellite-Delivered Broa -
Business Wire

http: . cgrnyse.com cgi-bin ny_quote?sym=gmh
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As of Jun. 22, 8:32pm ET

HYBE-QNLY CLOME LAST TRADE CHANGE
| na If 25116 [ 50100 |1 0 | 0% |
TOOAY'S
OPEN HIGH LOW VOLUME -
na 25 1/16 25 1/16 100 -
SHARES PREVIOUS PREVIGUS 2 -WEEK
CUTSTANDING DAY'S CLOSE ' NYRE-ONLY CLOBE
HIGH LOW -
253/4 24 3/4 ’
[ 3015000 || 251/16 || na 1 9799y | (12/30/99)

Price/Earnings Ratio na | Eamings Per Share na

oA

Beta Coefficient 0.03 | Market Cap (mil.) 75.6
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NYSE-QNLY CLOBE LABT TRADE CHANGE
[ 26 1/8 {2618 1 353pm || 0 | 0% ]
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Beta Coefficient 0.02 | Market Cap (mil.) 131
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As of Jun. 22, 8:33pm ET
NYSE-ONLY CLOM LABT TRAOE CRANGE
I na 18 241516 [ 50100 | 0 ] 0% |
TODAY'S
OPEN HIGH LOW VOLUME
na 24 15/16 24 15/16 800
SRARES PRAEVIOUS PREVIOVS S2-WEEX
OUTSTARSING DAYS CLDSE NYRE-ONLY CLOSE
HIGH LOW
26 1/4 24 3/8
[ 3,150,000 || 241516 ] na 11 (7112/99) (3/1/00)

Beta Coefficient

78.6
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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20549-1004

FORM 10-Q

Ix

8EARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
1934 .
For the guarterly period ended March 31, 2000

OR

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF

1934
For the transition period from to
Commission file number 1-143
GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION -
{Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter) i
STATE OF DELAWARE 38-0572515 ;
(State or other jurisdiction of (L.LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)
300 Renaissance Center, Detroit, Michigan 48265-3000
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code (313) 556-5000

indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by
Section 13 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months, and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes X. No _.

As of March 31, 2000, there were outstanding 621,181,380 shares of the issuer's $1-2/3 par
value common stock and 138,437,233 shares of GM Class H $0.10 par value common stock.
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GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

INDEX
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Part | - Financial Information (Unaudited)
ltem 1.  Financial Statements
Cor:;olidated Statements of Income for the Three Months Ended
March 31, 2000 and 1999 3
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2000, December 31, 1999,
and March 31, 1999 5
Condensed Consofidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Three Months
Ended March 31, 2000 and 1999 7
Notes to Consoilidated Financial Statements 9
tem 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Resuits of Operations 20
Part Il - Other Information (Unaudited)
ltem 1. Legal Proceedings 31
ltem 6. Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K 32 .
Signature 32 i
Exhibit 99 Hughes Electronics Corporation Financial Statements and -
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial :.
Condition and Results of Operations (Unaudited) 33

Exhibit 27 Financial Data Schedule (Unaudited)
(for Securities and Exchange Commission information only)
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PART |
GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(Unaudited)

GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Three Months Ended

2000

1999

(Dollars in Millions
Except Per Share Amounts)

Manufactured products sales and revenues $40,396

Financing revenues
Other income (Note 10)
Total net sales and revenues
Cost of sales and other operating expenses,
exclusive of items listed below
Selling, general, and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization expense
Interest expense
Other expenses (Note 10)
Total costs and expenses
Income from continuing operations before income taxes
and minority interests
Income tax expense
Minority interasts
Losses of nonconsolidated associates
Income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations (Note 2)
Net incomse
Dividends on preference stocks
Earnings attributable to common stocks

Basic sarnings (losses) per share attributable to common stocks (Note 9)
$1-2/3 par value
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations (Note 2)
Earnings per share attributable to $1-2/3 par value
(Losses) earnings per share attributable to Class H

Diluted earnings (losses) per share attributable to common stocks (Note 9)
$1-2/3 par value
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations (Note 2)
Eamings per share attributable to $1-2/3 par vaiue
(Losses) eamings per share attributable to Class H

Reference should be made to the notes te consolidated financial statements.

4,075
2387
46,838
33,465
4,786
3,238
2,228
44,226
2,632
783
1,783

1,783
SLZ24

$2.88

$2.88

$Q.23)

$2.80

$(Q.ad

$36,620
3,509
-2.306
42,435

30,666
3,822
2,724
1,845

438

39,495

2940
1,029
(14)
24 B
1,820 -
—242
2,062
AL
$2.048

$2.73
0.37

$.10
$0.20

$2.68

$1.04

AOL 000086



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME - conciuded

(Unaudited)

AUTOMOTIVE, COMMUNICATIONS SERVICES, AND OTHER OPERATIONS
Manufactured products sales and revenues
Other income (Note 10}
Total net sales and revenues
Cost ot sales and other operating expenses,
exclusive of tems listed below
Selling, general, and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization: expense
Total operating costs and expenses
Interest expense
Other expenses (Note 10)
Net expense from transactions with Financing and
Insurance Operations
Income from continuing operations before income taxes
and minority interests
Income tax expense
Minority interests
Losses of nonconsoliidated associates
income from continuing operations
Income trom discontinued operations (Note 2)
Net income - Automotive, Communications Services,
and Other Operations

FINANCING AND INSURANCE OPERATIONS
Financing revenues
Insurance, mortgage, and other income
Totai revenues and other income
Interest expense
Depreciation and amortization expense
Operating and other expenses
Provisions for financing losses
Insurance losses and loss adjustment expenses
Total costs and expenses
Net income from transactions with Automotive,
Communications Services, and Other Operations
Income betore income taxes and rinority interests
income tax expense
Minority interests
Net incoms - Financing and Insurance Operations

The above supplementai consolidating information is explained in Note 1.
Reference should be made to the notes to consolidated financial statements.

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2000 1999
(Dollars in Millions)
$40,396 $36.620
—799 __903
41,195 37923
33.465 30.666
3,480 2.741
1,715 1,452
38,660 34,859
216 194
168 58
139 94
2,012 2.318
542 788
3 (6)
(68) (77)
1,405 1,447
- 242
$L405 s.a88
Three Months Ended -
March 31 :.
1999
(Dollars in Millions)
$4,075 $3,509
1588 1,403
5.663 4912
2,012 1,651
1,523 1,272
1,306 1,081
107 119
234 281
5,182 4,384
(139 194)
6§20 622
241 241
o 8
$3Zi saza

AOL 000087




CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Mar. 31, 2000 Dec. 31,
GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES (UJnaydited) 1999
ASSETS (Doltars in Millions)
Automotive, Communications Services, and Other Operations
Cash and cash equivalents . $8,497 $9,730
Marketable securities 1.948 1,698
Total cash and marketable securities 10,445 11.428
Accounts and notes receivable (less allowances) 5,552 5,093
Inventories (less aliowances) (Note 3) 12,028 10,638
Net assets of discontinLed operations (Note 2) - -
Equipment on operating leases (less accumulated depreciation) 5,963 5,744
Deferred income taxes and other current assets 9,491 9,006
Total current assets 43,479 41,809
Equity in net assets of nonconsolidated associates 2,158 1,711
Property - net (Note 4) 33,177 32,779
intangible assets - net 8.808 8,527
Deferred income taxes 15,100 15,277
Other assets 25,372 _25.358
Total Automotive. Communications Services, and Other Operations assets 128,094 125,561
Financing and Insurance Operations
Cash and cash equivalents 910 712
Investments in securities 9,016 9,110
Finance receivables - net 84,581 80,627
Investment in leases and other receivabies 37,350 36,407
Other assets 21,243 21,312
Net receivable from Automotive, Comm. Serv., ang Other Operations 1,407 1,001
Total Financing and Insurance Operations assets 154,507 149,169
Total assets $282.801 $274,.730
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Automotive, Communications Services, and Other Operations
Accounts payabie (pnncipally trade) $17.649 $17,254
Loans payable 2,041 1,991
Accrued expenses 33,214 32,854
Net payable to Financing and insurance Operations 1,407 1,001
Total current liabilities 54,311 53,100
Long-term debt 8,587 7.415
Postretirement benefits other than pensions {Note 5) 34,532 34,166
Pensions 3,395 3,339
Other liabilities and deferred income taxes 17,214 17,426
Total Automotive, Communications Services, and Other Operations liabilities 118,039 115,446
Financing and Insurance Operations
Accounts payable 4,616 4,262
Debt 124,492 122,282
Other liabilities and deferred income taxes 12,202 11,282
Total Financing and Insurance Operations liabilities 141,310 137,826
Minority interests 621 596
General Motors - obligated mandatorily redeemabie preterred securities of subsidiary
trusts holding solely junior subordinated debentures of General Motors (Note 6)
Series D 79 78
Series G R 139 139
Stockhoiders' equity
Preterence stocks (Note 7) .
$1-2/3 par value common stock (issued, 621,602,927; 619,412,233
and 649,568,145 shares) (Note 9) 1,036 1,033
Class H common stock (issued, 138,512,612; 137,115,187 and
106,641,918 shares) 14 14
Capital surplus (principally additional paid-in capital) 14,031 13,794
Retained eamings 8,404 6861
Subtotal 23,485 21,802
Accumulated foreign curmrency transiation adjustments (2,119) (2,033)
Net unrealized gains on securities 1,164 996
Minimum pension liability adjustment (121 (121}
Accumulated other comprehensive loss {1,072} (1,158)
Total stockhoiders' equity 22413 20644
Total liabilities and stockhoiders’ equity $282.601 $224.230

Reference should be made to the notes to consolidated financial statements.

Mar. 31, 1999
(Unaudited)

$12,081
1,137
13,218
4,686
11,566
3,191
6.048
9537
48,246
1.659
31.636
10,170
15,410
13,565
120.686

502
8,703
73,839
32,707
15,400
— 330
131490
Se52.018

$16,162
869
33,210
339
50,580
7.011
34,416
3.761

_17.768
113,536

4,405
106,379
-10.395
121,179

580

79
141

1,083

1
13,276
_8.703
23,074
(1,782)
458
(5.089)
(6,413)
16.661
$252.178
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS - concluded

Mar. 31, 2000
(Unaygited)
AUTOMOTIVE, COMMUNICATIONS SERVICES, AND OTHER OPERATIONS
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $8,497
Marketable secunities 1,948
Totatl cash and marketable secunties 10,445
Accounts and notes reeeivabie (less allowances) 5,552
Inventones (less allowances) (Note 3) 12,028
Net assets of discontinued operations (Note 2) -
Equipment on operating leases (less accumulated depreciation) 5,963
Deferred income taxes and other current assets 9,491
Total current assets 43,478
Equity in net assets of nonconsolidated associates 2,158
Property - net (Note 4) 33,177
Intangible assets - net 8,808
Deferred income taxes 15,100
Other assets 25372
Total Automotive. Communications Services,
ana Other Operations assets $128.094
LIABILITIES AND GM INVESTMENT
Accounts payable (principally trade) $17,649
Loans payable 2,041
Accrued expenses 33,214
Net payable to Financing and insurance Operations 1,407
Total current liabilities 54,311
Long-term debt 8,587
Postretirement benefits other than pensions (Note 5) 34,532
Pensions 3,395
Other liabilities and deferred income taxes 17,214
Total Automotive, Communications Services,
and Other Operations liabilities 118,038
Minority interests 595
GM investment in Automotive, Communications Services,
and Other Operations 9,460
Total Automotive, Communications Services,
and Other Operations liabilities and GM investment $128.094
Mar. 31, 2000
FINANCING AND INSURANCE OPERATIONS (Unaydited)
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $910
investments in securities 9,016
Finance receivabies - net . 84,581
investment in leases and other receivables 37,350
Other assets ) 21,243
Net receivable from Automotive, Communications Services,
and Other Operations 1,407
Total Financing and Insurance Operations assets $134.5Q7
LIABILITIES AND GM INVESTMENT
Accounts payable $4,616
Debt - 124,492
Other liabilities and deferred income taxes 12,202
Total Financing and Insurance Operations liabilities 141,310
Minority interests 26
GM investment in Financing and Insurance Operations 13,171

Total Financing and Insurance Operations liabilities and GM investment  $154,507

The above supplemental consolidating information is explained in Note 1.
Reference should be made to the notes to consolidated financial statements.

Dec. 31,
1999
(Dollars in Millions)

$8,730
1,698
11,428
5.093
10,638

5,744
2,006
41,909

1,711
32,779

8,527
15,277

25,358

$123.361

$17.254
1.991
32,854
1.001
53,100
7,415
34,166
3,339
17.426

115,446
574

9541

$125.561
Dec. 31,
1998
(Dollars in Millions)

$712
9,110
80,627
36,407
21,312

1,001

$143.188

$4,262
122,282
11,282
137,826

~e
i

11.321
$120.169

Mar. 31, 1999
(Unaudited)

$12,081
1,137
13,218
4,686
11,566
3,191
6,048
9,537
48,246
1,659
31,636
10,170
15,410
13,565

$120.686

$16,162
869
33,210
339 -
50,580 :
7,011
34,418
3,761
17,768 s

113,536
520

6,630

$120.666

Mar. 31, 1999
Unaudited

$502
8,703
73,839
32,707
15,400

339
$13L430

$4.405
106,379
10,395
121,179
60
_10.251
$131,430
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited)

GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Expenditures for property

Investinents in marketable securities - acquisitions
{nvestments in marketabie securities - liquidations
Mortgage servicing nghts - acquisitions

Mortgage servicing rights - liquidations

Finance receivables - acquisitions

Finance receivables - liquidations

Proceeds from sates of finance receivables
Operating leases - acquisitions

Operating leases - liquidations

{nvestments in companies, net of cash acquired (Note 11)
Other

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Net decrease in loans payable

Long-term debt - borrowings

Long-term debt - repayments

Repurchases of common and preference stocks
Proceeds from issuing common and preference stocks
Cash dividends paid to stockholders

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Effect ot exchange rate changes on cash and

cash equivalents
Net cash (used in) provided by continuing operations
Net cash provided by discontinued operations (Note 2)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period

Reference should be made to the notes to consolidated financial statements.

Three Months Ended March 31

2000

$6,104

(1,805)
(6,828)
6,981
(178)
(51.978)
35,252
12,248
(6.655)
3,502
(154)
_146
(9.469)

(589)
8,940
(5,610)
(132)
156

2426

(1,035)
(1.035)

53,4070

1999

(Doliars in Millions)

$15,094

(1,384)
(7.553)
6,344
(327)
(42,969)
31,921
7.375
(5.898)
3,129
(514)
(179
(10,04

(5,231)
7.970
{3,980)
(979)
284

-188)
2,581
_128
2,709
9.674
$12.383
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS - concluded

Net cash provided by-oporatlng activities

Cash fiows trom investing activities
Expenditures for property
investments in other marketable securities - acquisitions
Investments n other marketable securities - liquidations
Mortgage servicing rights - acquisitions
Mortgage servicing rights - liquidations
Finance receivables - acquisitions
Finance receivabies - liquidations
Proceeds from sales of finance receivables
Operating leases - acquisitions
Operating leases - liquidations
Investments in companies. net of cash acquired (Note 11)
Net investing activity with Financing and
Insurance Operations
Other
Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Net decrease in loans payable

Long-term debt - borrowings

Long-term debt - repayments

Net financing activity with Automotive, Communications
Services, and Other Operations

Repurchases of common and preference stocks

Proceeds from issuing common and preterence stocks

Cash dividends paid to stockholders

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities

Eftect of exchange rate changes on cash and

cash equivaients
Net transactions with Automotive/Financing Operations
Net cash (used in) provided by continuing operations
Net cash provided by discontinued operations (Note 2)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivaients
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended March 31
2000 1999
Automotive,  Financing Automotive, Financing
Comm.Serv. and Comm.Serv. and
ang Other  Insurance and Other Ingyrance
(Dollars in Miltions)
$2.449 $3.655 $9,188 $5.906
(1,702) (103) (1,345) (39)
(970) (5.858) (1,813) (5,740)
720 6,261 1,077 5,267
- (178) - (327)
(51,978) (42,969)
- 35,252 31,921
- 12.248 - 7.375
(2,174) (4,481) (2,465) (3,433)
1,763 1,738 1,281 1,848
(154) - (514) -
(998) - 75 -
291) 47 e 9w
{3.806) 6,661 (4,866) 510
(25) (564) (485) (4,746)
1,186 7.754 411 7,559
(1.033) (4,577) (320) (3,660)
. 998 - (75) ’
(132) - (879) -
156 - 284 -
239 R {343 —
(61-74) 3611 (L432) 22
(95) (1) (188) -
_406 (406} _(477) 477
{1,233) 198 2,225 356
(1,233 198 2,353 356
9730 2 2728 146
$8.497 $910  s12.081 $302

The above supplemental consolidating information is explained in Note 1.

Reference should be made to the notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

Note 1. Financial Statement Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles for interim financial information. in the opinion of
management, all adjustments (consisting of only normal recurring items), which are necessary for a fair
presentation have been included. The resuits for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results
which may be expected for any other interim period or for the full year. For further information, refer to the
December 31, 1999 consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in General Motors
Cormporation's (the “Corporation” or “GM”) 1999 Annual Report on Form 10-K, and all other GM, Hughes
Electronics Corporation and Subsidiaries (Hughes), and General Motors Acceptance Corporation and
Subsidiaries (GMAC) filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

GM presents separate supplemental consolidating financial information for the following businesses:
(1) Automotive, Communications Services, and Other Operations which consists of the design,
manufacturing, and marketing of cars, trucks, locomotives, and heavy duty transmissions and related
parts and accessories, as well as the operations ot Hughes; and (2) Financing and Insurance Operations
which consists primarity of GMAC, which provides a broad range of financial services, including consumer
vehicle financing, full-service leasing and fleet leasing, dealer financing, car and truck extended service
contracts, residential and commercial mortgage services, vehicle and homeowners’ insurance, and asset-
based lending. Transactions between businesses have been eliminated in the Corporation's consolidated
statements of income.

Certain amounts for 1999 were reclassified to conform with the 2000 classifications.

Note 2. Discontinued Operations

On February 5, 1999, Delphi Automotive Systems Corporation (Delphi) completed an initial public .
ofering (IPO) of 100 million shares of its common stock, which represented 17.7% of its outstanding
common shares. On April 12, 1999, the GM Board of Directors (GM Board) approved the compiete
separation of Deiphi from GM by means of a spin-off (which was tax-free to GM and its stockholders for
U.S. federal income tax purposes). On May 28, 1999, GM distributed to holders of its $1-2/3 par value -
common stock 80.1% of the outstanding shares of Deiphi, which resulted in 0.69893 shares of Delphi s
common stock being distributed for each share of GM $1-2/3 par value common stock outstanding on the
record date of May 25, 1999. In addition, GM contributed the remaining 2.2% of Delphi shares (around
12.4 million shares), to a Voluntary Employee Beneficiary Association (VEBA) trust established by GM to
fund benefits to its hourly retirees. -

The financial data related to GM's investment in Delphi through May 28, 1999 is classified as
discontinued operations for all periods presented. -

Delphi net sales (including sales to GM) included in discontinued operations totaled $7.5 billion for the
three months ended March 31, 1999. Income from Delphi discontinued operations of $242 million for the
three months ended March 31, 1999 is reported net of income tax expense of $174 million.

The net assets of Delphi were as follows (in millions):

March 31,
1999
Current assets $8,730
Property and equipment - net 4,907
Deferred income taxes and other assets 4,442
Current liabilities (4.518)
Long-term debt (1,667)
Other liabilities (8,543)
Accumulated translation adjustments 172
Minority interest related to Delphi (332)
Net assets of discontinued operations $3.191
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GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

(Unaudited)

Note 3. Inventories

Inventories included the foliowing for Automotive, Communications Services, and Other Operations (in

millions):
- March 31, Dec. 31,
2000 1999

Productive material. work in process, and supplies $5,963 $5,505
Finished product, service parts, etc. 7.955 7.023
Total inventories at FIFO 13,918 12,528
Less LIFO allowance 1,890 1,890
Total inventories (less allowances) $12.028 $10.638

Note 4. Property - Net

March 31,
1999

$6,180
7,288
13,468
1,902
$11.566

Property - net included the following for Automaotive, Communications Services, and Other Operations

(in millions):
March 31,

2000

Real estate, plants, and equipment $59,819
Less accumulated depreciation (34,010)
Real estate, plants, and equipment - net 25,809
Special tools - net 7,368
Total property - net $33.177

Financing and Insurance Operations had net property of $1.2 billion, $496 million, and $365 million

Dec. 31,
1999

$58,777
(34,363)

25,414

7,365

$32.779

March 31,
1999

$58,585

(33.988) -
24,597

7,039
$3L636

recorded in other assets at March 31, 2000, December 31, 1999, and March 31, 1999, respectively.

Note 5. Postretirement Benefits Other than Pensions

GM has disclosed in the consolidated financial statements certain amounts associated with estimated
future postretirement benefits other than pensions and characterized such amounts as *accumulated
postretirement benefit obligations,” “liabilities,” or "obligations.” Notwithstanding the recording of such
amounts and the use of these terms, GM does not admit or otherwise acknowledge that such amounts or
existing postretirement benefit plans of GM (other than pensions) represent legally enforceable liabilities of
GM.

Note 6. Preferred Securities of Subsidiary Trusts

General Motors - Obligated Mandatorily Redeemable Preferred Securities of Subsidiary Trusts

in Juty 1997, the General Motors Capital Trust D (Series D Trust) issued approximately $79 million of
its 8.67% Trust Originated Preferred Securities*™ (TOPrS *") Series D, (Series D Preferred Securities), in a
one-for-one exchange for 3,055,255 of the outstanding GM Series D 7.92% Depositary Shares, each
representing one-fourth of a share of GM Series D Preference Stock, $0.10 par value per share. in
addition, the General Motors Capital Trust G (Series G Trust) issued approximately $143 million of its
9.87% TOPTS, Series G (Series G Preferred Securities), in a one-for-one exchange for 5,064,489 of the
outstanding GM Series G 9.12% Depositary Shares, each representing one-fourth of a share of GM

Series G Preference Stock, $0.10 par value per share.

Concurrently with the exchanges and the related purchases by GM from the Series
Trusts (Trusts) of the common securities of such Trusts, which represent approximately 3%

D and Series G
of the total

assets of such Trusts, GM issued to the wholly-owned Trusts, as the Series D Trust 's sole assets its
8.67% Junior Subordinated Deferrable Interest Debentures, Series D, due July 1, 2012 and as the Series
G Trust's sole assets, its 9.87% Junior Subordinated Deferrable Interest Debentures, Series G, due July
1, 2012 (the “Series D Debentures” and “Series G Debentures” or collectively the “Debentures”), having
aggregate principal amounts equal to the aggregate stated liquidation amounts of the Series D and Series
G Preferred Securities and the related common securities, respectively ($79 million with respect to the
Series D Debentures and $131 million with respect to the Series G Debentures).

-10 -
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GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
- (Unaudited)

Note 6. Preferred Securities of Subsidiary Trusts (concluded)

The Series D Debentures were redeemable, in whole or in part, at GM 's option on or after August 1,
1999 at a redemption price equal to 100% of the outstanding principal amount of the Series D Debentures
plus accrued and unpaid interest. The Series D Preferred Securities were mandatorily redeemable upon
the maturity or earlier redemption of the Series D Debentures. On May 2, 2000, GM redeemed the Series
D Debentures causing the Series D Trust to redeem the approximately 3.1 million outstanding Series D
Preferrec Securities. The Series D Preferred Securities were redeemed at a price of $25 per share plus
accrued and unpaid distributions of $0.01 per share. The Series D 7.92% Depositary Shares were
redeemable, in whole or in part, at GM's option on or after August 1, 1999 at a redemption price equai to
$25 per share plus accrued and unpaid dividends. GM, on May 2, 2000, redeemed the approximately 3
million outstanding Series D 7.92% Depositary Shares. The Series D 7.92% Depositary Shares were
redeemed at a price of $25 per share plus accrued and unpaid dividends of $0.18 per share. The
securities together had a total face value of approximately $154 million.

The Series G Debentures are redeemabie, in whole or in part, at GM’s option on or after January 1,

2001, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the outstanding principal amount of the Series G Debentures
pius accrued and unpaid interest, or, under certain circumstances, prior to January 1, 2001, ata
redemption price equal to 114% of the outstanding principal of the Series G Debentures from the Series G
expiration date through December 31, 1997, declining ratably on each January 1 thereafter to 100% on
January 1, 2001, plus accrued and unpaid interest. The Senres G Preferred Securities will be redeemed
upon the maturity or earlier redemption of the Series G Debentures.

GM has guaranteed the payment in fuil to the holders of the Series D and Series G Preferred -
Securities (collectively the “Pretarred Securities”) of all distributions and other payments on the Preferred -
Securities to the extent not paid by the Trusts only if and to the extent that the Trusts have assets. GM
has made payments of interest or principal on the related Debentures. These guarantees, when taken
together with GM's obligations under the Preferred Securities Guarantees, the Debentures, and the _
Indentures relating thereto and the obligations under the Declaration of Trust of the Trusts, including the -
obligations to pay certain costs and expenses of the Trusts, constitute full and unconditional guarantees
by GM of each Trust’s obligations under its Preferred Securities.

" “Trust Originated Preferred Securities” and “TOPrS” are service trademarks of Merrill Lynch & Co.
Note 7. America Online’s Investment in GM Preference Stock

On June 24, 1999, as part of a strategic alliance with Hughes, America Online (AOL) invested $1.5
billion in return for approximately 2.7 million shares of GM Series H 6.25% Automatically Convertible
Preference Stock, par value $0.10 per share. This preference stock will automaticaily convert into GM
Class H common stock in three years, based upon a variable conversion factor linked to the GM Class H
common stock price at the time of conversion, and accrues quarterly dividends at a rate of 6.25% per
year. It may be converted earlier in certain limited circumstances. GM immediately invested the $1.5
billion received from AOL into shares of Hughes Series A Preferred Stock designed to correspond to the
financial terms of the GM Series H 6.25% Automatically Convertible Preference Stock. Dividends on the
Hughes Series A Preferred Stock are payable to GM quarterly at an annual rate of 6.25%. These
preferred stock dividends payable to GM will reduce Hughes' eamings used for computation of the
Available Separate Consolidated Net Income (Loss) (ASCNI) of Hughes, which will have an effect
equivalent to the payment of dividends on the GM Series H 6.25% Automotically Convertible Preference
Stock as if those dividends were paid by Hughes. Upon conversion of the GM Series H 6.25%
Automatically Convertible Preference Stock into GM Class H common stock, Hughes will redeem the
Hughes Series A Preferred Stock through a cash payment to GM equal to the fair market value of GM
Class H common stock issuable upon the conversion. Simultaneous with GM ’s receipt of the cash
redemption proceeds. GM will make a capital contribution to Hughes of the same amount. In connection
with this capital contribution, the denominator of the fraction used in the computation of the ASCNI of
Hughes will be increased by the corresponding number of shares of GM Class H common stock issued.
Accordingly, upon conversion of the GM Series H 6.25% Automatically Convertible Preference Stock into
GM Class H common stock, both the numerator and denominator used in the computation of ASCNI will
increase by the amount of the GM Class H common stock issuec.

-11-
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GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
- (Unaudited)

Note 8. Comprehensive Income
GM’s total comprehensive income was as follovss (in millions):

Three Months Ended

March 31,

2000 1999
Net income $1,783 $2,062
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustments (82) (693) (1)
Unrealized gains (losses) on securities 168 (23)
Other comprehensive income (loss) 86 (716)
Total comprehensive income $1.869 $1.346

(1) Includes approximately $450 million of translation adjustments associated with the devaluation of the
Brazilian Real in the first quarter of 1999.

Note 9. Earnings Per Share Attributable to Common Stocks

.Earnings per share (EPS) attributable to each class of GM common stock was determined based on
the attribution of earnings to each such class of common stock for the period divided by the weighted- -
average number of common shares for each such class outstanding during the period. Diluted eamings
per share attributable to each class of GM common stock considers the impact of potential common
shares, uniess the inclusion of the potential common shares would have an antidilutive effect. -
The attribution of earnings to each class of GM common stock was as foliows {in millions): -

Three Months Ended
March 31,

2000 1999
Earnings attributable to common stocks
$1-2/3 par value
Continuing operations $1.,786 $1,783
Discontinued operations - 242
Earnings attributable to $1-2/3 par vaiue $1,786 $2,025
(Losses) earnings attributable to Class H $(32) $21

Earnings attributable to $1-2/3 par value common stock for the period represent the eamings

attributable to all GM common stocks for the period, reduced by the ASCNI of Hughes for the respective
eriod. :

P (Losses) earnings attributable to GM Class H common stock for the three month periods ended March
31, 2000 and 1999, represent the ASCNI of Hughes. (Losses) earnings used for computation qf the
ASCNI of Hughes are based on the separate consolidated net (loss) income of Hughes, excluding the
effects of GM purchase accounting adjustments arising from GM's acquisition of Hughes Aircraft
Company (HAC) which remains after the spin-off of Hughes Defense, reduced by the amount of dlycdends
accrued on the Hughes Series A Preferred Stock (as an equivalent measure of the effect that GM 's
payment of dividends on the GM Series H 6.25% Automatically Convertible Preference Stock would have
if paid by Hughes). The calculated (losses) eamnings used for the computation of the ASCNI of Hughes is
then multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is equal to the weighted-average number of shares of
GM Class H common stock outstanding during the three month periods ended March 31, 2000 and 1999
(138 million and 106 million, respectively), and the denominator of which is a number equal to the
woighted-average number of shares of GM Class H common stock which if issued and outstanding would
represent a 100% interest in the earnings of Hughes (the “Average Class H dividend base”). The Average
Class H dividend base was 432 million and 400 million during the three month periods ended March 31,
2000 and 1999, respectively.

-12-
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GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
(Unaudited)

Note 9. Earnings Per Share Attributabie to Common Stocks (conciuded)

Under the GM Restated Certificate of Incorporation, the GM Board may adjust the denominator of the
Class H fraction that determines the net income (loss) of Hughes attributable to the GM Class H common
stock — that is, the Class H dividend base, from time to time as the GM Board deems appropriate to reflect
the following: (a) subdivisions and combinations of the GM Class H common stock and stock dividends
payable in shares of GM Class H common stock to holders of GM Class H common stock; (b) the fair
market value of contributiuns of cash or property by GM to Hughes, or of cash or property of GM to or for
the benefit of employees of Hughes for employee benefit plans or arrangements of GM, Hughes, or other
GM subsidiaries; (c) the contribution of shares of capital stock of GM to or for the benefit of employees of
Hughes or its subsidiaries for benefit plans or arrangements of GM, Hughes, or other GM subsidiaries: (d)
payments made by Hughes to GM of amounts applied to the repurchase by GM of shares of GM Class H
common stock, so long as the GM Board has approved the repurchase and GM applied the payment to
the repurchase; and (e) the repurchase by Hughes of shares of GM Class H common stock that are no
longer outstanding, so long as the GM Board approved the repurchase. Additionally, upon conversion of
the GM Series H 6.25% Automatically Convertible Preference Stock into GM Class H common stock, both
the numerator and the denominator used in the computation of ASCNI will increase by the number of
shares of the GM Class H common stock issued (see further discussion in Note 7 to the GM consolidated
financial statements).

On December 15, 1999, in order to fulfill its previously disclosed goal of repurchasing shares of $1-2/3
par value common stock, GM entered into a derivative transaction pursuant to which it purchased for cash
from a financial institution on that date approximately 8.5 million shares of $1-2/3 par value common stock.
Upon receiving the shares, GM immediately reduced its common shares outstanding used to calculate
both basic and diluted EPS. GM is obligated to deliver to the financial institution any difference in the o
notional value of such amount of shares, based on trading prices to be determined during a period
following July 25, 2000. GM has the option to settle this derivative trade either in cash or through delivery
of securities. Since the transaction gives GM this settlement option, it is considered an equity instrument
for accounting purposes. As such, changes in fair value are not recorded and final settlement is recorded
in equity. GM also has the right from time to time to settle ali or part of the transaction prior to July 25, -
2000 by delivering a notice of early settlement, in which event the notional value for the shares settled wilt
be determined in respect of the earlier settlement date. As of March 31, 2000, there remained
approximately 3.4 million unsettled shares related to this transaction. Any net loss on this transaction is
included in the caiculation of diluted EPS.

The reconciliation of the amounts used in the basic and diluted EPS computations for income from
continuing operations was as follows (in millions except per share amounts):

1-2/3 Par Vi mm tock 1 H Common Stock

Per Share Per Share
Income Shares Amount ASCNI Shares Amount
Three Months Ended March 31, 2000
Income (loss) from continuing operations $1.807 $(24)
Less: Dividends on preference stocks 21 _8
Basic EPS
Income (loss) from continuing operations
attributable to common stocks 1,786 620 $2.88 (32) 138 $(Q.23)
Effect of Dilutive Securities
Assumed exercise of dilutive stock options - 17 —_ —
Diluted EPS
Adjusted income (loss) from continuing
cj)perations attn'z)utable to common stocks  $1.786 637 $2.80 $(32) 138 $(0.23)
Three Months Ended March 31, 1999
income from continuing operations $1,799 $21
Less: Dividends on preferance stocks __16 -
Basic EPS
Income from ccriunuing operations
attributable to common stocks 1,783 654 $2.23 21 106 $0.20
Effect of Dilutive Securities
Assumed exercise of dilutive stock options v A3 a1 _86
Diluted EPS
Adjusted income from continuing operations
attributable to common stocks $1.782 682 $2.68 $22 12 $Q.19
-13.
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GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
(Unaudited)

Note 10. Other Income and Other Expenses
Other income and other expenses consisted of the following (in millions):

- Three Months Ended

March 31
, 2000 1999
Other income
Interest income $535 $544
Insurance premiums 343 340
Rental car lease revenue 447 448
Mortgage operations investment
income and servicing fees 775 684
Other 287 290
Total other income $2.387 $2.306
Other expenses
Provision for financing losses $107 $119
Insurance losses and loss adjustment expenses 234 261
Other 168 _58
Total other expenses $509 $438

Note 11. Acquisitions, investments, and Divestitures

Acquisitions and Investments

On January 28, 2000, GM completed the acquisition of the remaining 50% of Saab Automobile AB
from Investor A.B. for $125 million. The transaction was accounted for using the purchase method of
accounting. The allocation of the purchase price is expected to be finalized in the third quarter of 2000.

Additionally, in the first quarter of 2000, GM finalized the allocation of the purchase price to its
investment in Isuzu Motors Ltd., which resulted in approximately $227 million of negative goodwill which
was used to reduce the carrying value of long-lived assets.

On April 12, 2000, GM finalized the previously announced Agreement of Strategic Alliance (the
“Alliance Agreement”) between GM and Fuji Heavy Industries Ltd. (Fuji) in which GM purchased
157,262,925 newly-issued shares of Fuiji's voting common stock, par value 50 yen ( ¥50) per share,
for approximately $1.3 billion, an equity interest in Fuji of 20% on a fully diluted basis, at the time of
payment. This investment will be accounted for using the equity method of accounting and Fuji will
remain an independent company with GM as its largest shareholder. This Alliance Agreement will
allow GM and Fuiji to collaborate in the design, development, and manufacturing of cars, trucks, and
related technology.

in 1999, significant transactions included the merger. with United States Satellite Broadcasting
Company, Inc. (USSB) and acquisitions of PRIMESTAR, the asset-based lending and factoring business
unit of The Bank of New York (BNYFC), and the full-service leasing business of Arriva Automotive
Soiutions Limited (Arriva).

The following selected unaudited pro forma information is being provided to present a summary of the
combined results of GM, USSB, PRIMESTAR, BNYFC, and Arriva for the three months ended March 31,
1999 as if the acquisitions had occurred as of the beginning of the period, giving effect to purchase
accounting adjustments. The pro forma data presents only significant transactions, is presented for
informational purposes only, and may not necessarily reflect the results of operations ot GM had these
companies operated as part of GM for the period presented, nor are they necessarily indicative of the
results of future operations. The pro forma information excludes the effect of non-recurring charges.
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GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
(Unaudited)

Note 11. Acquisitions, Investments, and Divestitures (concluded)
The pro forma in-formation is as follows (in millions except per share amounts):

Three Months Ended
March 31, 1999

Total net sales and revenues $43,080
Net income from continuing operations $1.825
Net income from discontinued operations 242
Net income $2.067

Basic earnings per share attributable to common stocks
$1-2/3 par value

Continuing operations $2.73
Discontinued operations 0.37
Earnings per share attributable to $1-2/3 par vaiue $310
Earnings per share attributabie to Class H $Q.20

Diluted earnings per share attributable to common stocks
$1-2/3 par value

Continuing operations $2.68 )
Discontinued operations 0.36 -
Earnings per share attributable to $1-2/3 par value $3.04
Earnings per share attributable to Class H $Q19

Divestitures -

On January 13, 2000, Hughes announced that it had reached an agreement to sell its satellite :
systems manufacturing businesses to The Boeing Company (Boeing) for approximately $3.8 billion in
cash. The transaction, which is subject to regulatory approval, is expected to close in the third quarter of
2000 and resuit in an after-tax gain in excess of $1.0 billion. In addition, if Hughes were to enter into a
settlement of the China investigation (see Note 13 to the GM consolidated financial statements) prior to
the ciosing of the Boeing transaction that involves a debarment from sales to the U.S. government or a
material suspension of Hughes’ export licenses or other material limitation on projected business activities
of the satellite systems manufacturing business, Boeing would not be obligated to complete the purchase
of Hughes' sateliite systems manufacturing businesses.

On March 1, 2000, Hughes announced that the operations of DIRECTV Japan (DTVJ), Hughes’
affiliate that provides DIRECTV services in Japan, would be discontinued and that its subscribers would
have the opportunity to migrate during 2000 to SkyPerfecTV!, a company in Japan that provides direct-to-
home satellite broadcast services that is expected to complete an PO during the third quarter of 2000. In
connection with the agreement, Hughes acquired an approximate 6.6% interest in SkyPerfecTV!. As a
result of the transaction. in the first quarter of 2000, Hughes wrote off its investment and accrued for the
estimated costs to exit the DTVJ business. The principal components of the accrued exit costs inciude
estimated subscriber migration and termination costs and costs to terminate certain leases, programming
agreements, and other long-term contractual commitments. These one-time charges were offset by the
estimated fair value of the SkyPerfecTV! interest acquired. The fair value of the SkyPerfecTV! interest
recorded was estimated based upon a preliminary independent appraisal, which is expected to be
completed within three to six months. Accordingly, the final amount of the fair value of the SkyPerfecTV!
investment recorded may be different from the amount refiected herein. The total loss related to DTVJ for
the first quarter of 2000, including Hughes’ share of DTVJ's operating losses was approximately $230
million. The after-tax impact was approximately $49 million. Hughes will continue to record its share of
DTVJ's operating losses during the remainder of 2000.
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GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
(Unaudited)

Note 13. Commitmeﬁts and Contingent Matters

Commitments :

On February 1, 2000, and subsequently revised on March 13, 2000, GM announced plans for a
broad restructuring of its economic interest in Hughes, including an offer to repurchase $1-2/3 par
value common stock in exchange for $9.0 billion of GM Class H common stock, and contributions up
to $7.0 villion in GM Class H common stock to the U.S. Hourly-Rate Employee Pension Plan and
VEBA trust. The exchange offer commenced April 24, 2000 and is expected to expire May 19, 2000.
GM will issue 1.065 shares of GM Class H common stock for each share of GM $1-2/3 par value
common stock tendered. This exchange ratio refiected a premium of 17.7% on GM $1-2/3 par value
common stock, based on the closing price of $88.50 per share of GM $1-2/3 par value common stock
and $97.81 per share of GM Class H common stock on the New York Stock Exchange composite
tape on April 19, 2000. GM will accept up to 86,396,977 shares of GM $1-2/3 par value common
stock and issue up to 92,012,781 shares of GM Class H common stock. GM expects to complete the
exchange offer as well as the pension and VEBA contributions during the second quarter of 2000.

On March 13, 2000, GM entered into an agreement with Fiat S.p.A. (Fiat) to form a strategic
industrial alliance, including substantial financial participation in each other's business. As part of the
alliance, GM will acquire a 20% stake in Fiat in exchange for $2.4 billion in GM $1-2/3 par value
common stock. Fiat’s holdings of GM will amount to approximately 5.1% of GM $1-2/3 par vaiue
common stock. GM and Fiat will enter into a separate registration rights agreement with respect to
the shares of GM $1-2/3 par value common stock to be acquired by Fiat. The transaction is
expected to be completed in 2000.

Contingent Matters

‘There is a pending grand jury investigation into whether Hughes should be accused of criminal -
violations of the export control laws arising out of the participation of two of its empioyees on a -
committee formed to review the findings of Chinese engineers regarding the failure of a Long March
rocket in China in 1996. Hughes is alsc subject to the authority of the State Department to impose
sanctions for non-criminal violations of the Arms Export Control Act. The possible criminal and/or
civil sanctions couid include fines as well as debarment from various export privileges and -
participating in government contracts. If Hughes were to enter into a settlement of this matter prior to
the closing of the Bosing transaction (see Note 11 to the GM consolidated financial statements) that
involves a debarment from sales to the U.S. government or a material suspension of Hughes ' export
licenses or other material limitation on projected business activities of the satellite systems
manufacturing businesses, Boeing would not be obligated to complete the purchase of Hughes'’
satellite systems manufacturing businesses. Hughes does not expect the grand jury investigation or
State Department review to resuilt in a material adverse effect upon its business. However, there can
be no assurance as to such a favorable outcome.

In connection with the 1997 spin-off of the defense electronics business of Hughes’ predecessor as
part of the Hughes restructuring transactions and the subsequent merger of that business with Raytheon
Company (Raytheon), the terms of the merger agreement provided processes for resolving disputes that
might arise in connection with post-closing financial adjustments that were also called for by the terms of
the merger agreement. These financial adjustments might require a cash payment from Ra.ytheon to
Hughes or vice versa. A dispute currently exists regarding the post-closing adjustments which Hughes
and Raytheon have proposed to one another and related issues regarding the adequacy of disclosures
made by Hughes to Raytheon in the period prior to consummation of the merger. Hughes and Raytheon
are proceeding with the dispute resolution process. Itis possible that uitimate resoiution of the post-
closing financial adjustment and of related disclosure issues may result in Hughes making a payment to
Raytheon that would be material to Hughes. However, the amount of any payment that Qlther party might
be required to make to the other cannot be determined at this time. Hughes intends to vigorously pursue
resolution of the dispute through the arbitration processes, opposing the adjustments proposed by
Raytheon, and seeking the payment from Raytheon that Hughes has proposed. _

General Electric Capital Corporation (GECC) and DIRECTV, Inc. (DIRECTV) entered into a contract
on July 31, 1995, in which GECC agreed to establish and manage a private label consumer credit
program for consumer purchases of hardware and related DIRECT\( programming. _Under the contract,
GECC also agreed to provide certain related services to DIRECTV, including credit risk scoring, billing,
and collections services. DIRECTV agreed to act as a surety for loans complying with the terms of the
contract. Hughes guaranteed DIRECTV's performance under the contract. A complaint and counterclaim
have been filed by the parties in the U.S. District Court for the District of Connecticut conceming GECC' s
performance and DIRECTV's obligation to act as a surety. GECC claims damages from DIRECTV in
excess of $140 million. DIRECTV is seeking damages from GECC in excess of $45 million. Hughes
intends to vigorously contest GECC's allegations and pursue Hughes ' own contractual rights and
remedies. Hughes does not believe that the litigation will have a material adverse impact on Hughes'
results of operations or financial position. The court has set a trial date of June 12, 2000.
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GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
(Unaudited)

Note 13. Commitments and Contingent Matters (continued)

Contingent Matters (continued)

As part of a marketing agreement entered into with AOL on June 21, 1899, Hughes committed to
increase its sales and marketing expenditures over the next three years by approximately $1.5 billion
relating to DirecPC/AOL-Plus, DIRECTV, DIRECTV/AOL TV and DirecDuo.

Hughes Space and Communications International (HSCI), a whollv owned subsidiary of Hughes
Space and Communications Company, has certain contracts with ICO Global Communications Operations
(ICO) to build the satellites and related components for a global wireless communications system. On
August 27. 1999, the ICO parent company filed for bankruptcy protection under Chapter 11 in U.S.
Bankruptcy Court in Wilmington, Delaware. On May 3, 2000, the U.S. Bankruptcy Court approved a plan
of reorganization and ICO's assumption of contracts with HSCI. in connection with the contract
assumption, ICO is expected to pay, in the second quarter of 2000, all pre-petition amounts due to
Hughes related to the ICO contracts.

On June 3, 1999, the National Rural Telecommunications Cooperative (NRTC) filed a lawsuit against
DIRECTV, Inc. and Hughes Communications Galaxy, Inc. (together “DIRECTV") in the United States
District Court for the Central District of California, alleging that DIRECTV has breached the DBS
Distribution Agreement (the “DBS Agreement”) with the NRTC. The DBS Agreement provides the NRTC
with certain rights, in certain specified portions of the United States, with respect to DIRECTV
programming delivered over 27 of the 32 frequencies at the 101 degrees west longitude orbital location.
The NRTC claims that DIRECTV has wrongfully deprived it of the exclusive right to distribute
programming formerly provided by USSB over the other five frequencies at 101 degrees. DIRECTV
denies that the NRTC is entitled to exclusive distribution rights to the former USSB programming because,
among other things, the NRTC's exclusive distribution rights are limited to programming distributed over
27 of the 32 frequencies at 101 degrees. The NRTC 's complaint seeks, in the alternative, the right to
distribute former USSB programming on a non-exclusive basis and the recovery of related revenues from
the date USSB was acquired by Hughes. DIRECTV maintains that the NRTC 's right under the DBS -
Agreement is to market and sell the former USSB programming as its agent and the NRTC is not entitled :
to the claimed revenues. DIRECTV intends to vigorously defend against the NRTC claims. DIRECTV has
also filed a counterclaim against the NRTC seeking a declaration of the parties’ rights under the DBS
Agreement,

o On August 26, 1999, the NRTC filed a second lawsuit against DIRECTV alleging that DIRECTV has
breached the DBS Agreement. In this lawsuit, the NRTC is asking the court to require DIRECTV to pay
the NRTC a proportionate share of unspecified financial benefits that DIRECTV derives from programming
providers and other third parties. DIRECTV ignored the NRTC on account of the aliegations in these
matters and plans to vigorously defend itself against these claims.

A purported class action suit was filed against DIRECTV on behalf of the NRTC's participating
members on February 29, 2000. The members assert claims identical to the claims that were asserted by
Pegasus Satellite Television, Inc. and Golden Sky Systems, Inc. in their lawsuit against DIRECTV.

Pegasus Satellite Television, Inc. and Golden Sky Systems, Inc., the two largest NRTC affiliates, fited
an action on January 11, 2000 against DIRECTV in United States District Courtin Los Angeles. The _
plaintiffs allege, among other things, that DIRECTV has interfered with their contractual relationship with
the NRTC. The plaintiffs plead that their rights and damages are derivative of the rights and claims
asserted by the NRTC in its two cases against DIRECTV. The plaintiffs also allege that DIRECTV has
interfered with their contractual relationships with manutacturers and distributors by preventing those
parties from selling receiving equipment to the plaintiffs’ dealers. DIRECTV denies that it has wrongtully
interfered with any of the plaintitfs’ business relationships and will vigorously defend the lawsuit. Although
an amount of loss, if any, cannot be estimated at this time, an unfavorable outcome pould be reached in
the NRTC and Pegasus litigation that could be material to Hughes ' results of operations or financial

osition.

P EchoStar Communications Corporation (EchoStar) and others commenced an action in the U.S.
District Court in Colorado on February 1, 2000 against DIRECTV, Hughes Network Systems, and
Thomson Consumer Electronics, Inc. seeking, among other things, injunctive relief and unspecified
damages. including treble damages, in connection with allegations that the defendants have entered into
agreements with retailers and program providers and engaged in other conduct that violates the antitrust
laws and constitutes unfair competition. DIRECTYV believes that the complaint is without merit and intends
to vigorously defend against the allegations raised. Although an amount of loss, if any, cannot be
estimated at this time, an unfavorable outcome could be reached that could be material to Hughes’ results
of operations or financial position.
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GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - concluded
(Unaudited)

Note 13. Commitments and Contingent Matters (concluded)

Contingent Matters (concluded)

Hughes and RIRECTV filed counterclaims against EchoStar on March 13, 2000, alleging that
EchoStar tortiously interfered with DIRECTV 's relationship with Kelly Broadcasting System, a provider of
foreign-language programming; engaged in unfair business practices in connection with improper sales of
network programming, misleading advertisements for National Football League games and EchoStar's
“PRIMESTAR bounty program"; and infringed on PRIMESTAR trademarks.

In Anderson, et al v. General Motors Corporation, a jury in a Los Angeles Superior Court returned a
verdict of $4.9 billion against GM in a product liability lawsuit involving a post-collision fuel fed fire in a
1979 Chevrolet Malibu. In post-trial developments, the trial court has reduced the punitive damages from
$4.8 billion to $1.1 billion and has entered an order which stays execution of the judgment pending
resolution of all appeals by GM and has released the bond GM had posted for the punitive and
compensatory damages (the cost of which was not material to the Corporation). GM continues to pursue
its appellate rights, including efforts to secure a new trial and the complete elimination of responsibility to
pay any damages in this matter consistent with GM 's view that the design of the Chevrolet Malibu was not
responsible for plaintiffs’ injuries.

In connection with GM’s disposition of certain businesses (including Delphi), GM has granted the
United Auto Workers guarantees covering benefits to be provided to certain former U.S. hourly
employees of GM who became employees of the disposed businesses. These guarantees have
limited terms that do not extend beyond October 2007. In connection with such guarantees relating
to certain of Delphi’'s U.S. hourly employees, GM and Delphi entered into an agreement, the
provisions of which are designed to prevent or mitigate the risk that GM s guarantee relating to -
Delphi’'s employees would ever be called upon, or, if it is, any payments thereunder by GM would
result in the obligation of Delphi to indemnify and hold GM harmiess as to such amounts. GM
believes that the likelihood it will make payments under any of these various guarantees is remote .
and that if such payments are made they will not be material to GM 's financial position or results of -
operations.

GM is subject to potential liability under govemment regulations and various claims and legal
actions which are pending or may be asserted against them. Some of the pending actions purport to
be class actions. The aggregate ultimate liability of GM under these government regulations and
under these claims and actions, was not determinable at March 31, 2000. After discussion with
counsel, it is the opinion of management that such liability is not expected to have a material adverse
effect on the Corporation’s consolidated financial condition or results of operations.

re e New
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GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and resuits of operations
(MD&A) should be read in conjunction with the December 31, 1999 consolidated financial statements and
notes thereto along with the MD&A included in General Motors Corporation 's (the “Corporation” or “GM")
1999 Annual Repest on Form 10-K, and all other GM, Hughes Electronics Corporation and Subsidiaries
(Hughes), and General Motors Acceptance Corporation and Subsidiaries (GMAC) filings with the
Securities and Exchange Commission. All earnings per share amounts included in the MD&A are
reported as diluted.

GM presents separate supplemental consolidating financial information for the foliowing businesses:
Automotive, Communications Services, and Other Operations and Financing and Insurance Operations.
GM's reportable operating segments within its Automotive, Communications Services, and Other

Operations business consist of:

GM Automotive (GMA) is comprised of four regions: GM North America (GMNA), GM Europe
(GME), GM Latin America/Afnca/Mid-East (GMLAAM), and GM Asia/Pacific (GMAP).

Hughes includes activities relating to digital entertainment, information and communications
services, and satellite-based private business networks.

The Other segment includes the design, manufacturing, and marketing of locamotives and heavy-
duty transmissions, the elimination of intersegment transactions, and certain non-segment specific
revenues and expenditures.

GM's reportable operating segments within its Financing and Insurance Operations business consist
of GMAC and Other. The Financing and insurance Operations’ Other segment includes financing entities
operating in the U.S., Canada, Brazil, and Sweden which are not associated with GMAC. -
The disaggregated financial resuits for GMA have been prepared using a management approach, -
which is consistent with the basis and manner in which GM management internally disaggregates financial
information for the purpose of assisting in making internal operating decisions. In this regard, certain
common expenses were allocated among regions less pracisely than would be required for stand-alone _
financial information prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and .
certain expenses (primarily certain U.S. taxes related to non-U.S. operations) were included in the
Automotive, Communications Services, and Other Operations’ Other segment. The financial results
represent the historical information used by management for intemnal decision making purposes; therefore,
other data prepared to represent the way in which the business will operate in the future, or data prepared
on a GAAP basis, may be materially different.
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GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

In the first quarter of 2000, GM's consolidated income from continuing operations totaled $1.8 billion or
$2.80 per share of $1-2/3 par value common stock, which represents a decrease of $37 million compared
with $1.8 billion or $2.68 per share of $1-2/3 par value common stock in the first quarter of 1999,

On April 12, 1999. the GM Board of Directors (GM Board) approved the complete separation of Delphi
Automotive Systems Corporation (Deiphi) from GM by means of a spin-off (which was tax-free to GM and
its stockholders for U.S. federal income tax purposes) which was completed on May 28, 1999 and,
accordingly, the financial results related to Delphi for all periods presented are reported as discontinued
operations. GM's net income for the first quarter of 1998, including the income from discontinued
operations totaled $2.1 billion or $3.04 per share of $1-2/3 par value common stock. Additional
information regarding the spin-off of Delphi is contained in Note 2 to the GM consolidated financial
statements.

Automotive, Communications Services, and Other Operations

Highlights of financial performance by GM's Automotive, Communications Services, and Other
Operations business were as follows for the three months ended March 31, (in millions):

2000 1999

Total net sales and revenues
GMA $38,331 $35,363
Hughes 2,118 1,635
Other 746 525 L

Total net sales and revenues $41,195 $37.523 -
Net income (loss)
GMA $1.518 $1.510 )
Hughes (1) (77)(2) 78 ..
Other —{36) 141)

Income from continuing operations 1,405 1.447
Discontinued operations - _242

Net income $1,.405 $1.689

(1) Excludes amortization of GM purchase accounting adjustments of $5 million for the first quarters
of 2000 and 1999, related to GM's acquisition of Hughes Aircraft Company (HAC) in 1985. Such
amortization was aflocated to GM's Other segment which is consistent with the basis upon which
the segments are evaluated.

(2) Includes a $13 million net loss related to the discontinuation of DIRECTV Jgpan 's (‘DTVJ)
operations and migration of its subscribers to SkyPerfecTV!. The net loss is comprised of a pre-
tax charge of approximately $171 million, partially offset by a $158 miilion tax benefit associated
with DTVJ's higher tax basis. See the Hughes Financial Review for further information.
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GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

GMA Financial Highlights

GMNA
Total net sales antt revenues

Pre-tax income

Income tax expense

Earnings/(losses) of nonconsolidated associates
and minority interests

GMNA income

GME
Total net sales and revenues

Pre-tax income

Income tax expense

Earnings/(losses) of nonconsolidated associates
and minority interests

GME income

GMLAAM
Total net sales and revenues

Pre-tax loss

Income tax benefit

Earnings/(losses) of nonconsciidated associates
and minority interests

GMLAAM income (loss)

GMAP
Total net sales and revenues

Pre-tax income (loss)

Income tax expense (benefit)

Earnings/(losses) of nonconsolidated associates
and minority interests

GMAP income (loss)

GMA (1)
Total net sales and revenues

Pre-tax income

Income tax expense

Earnings/(losses) of nonconsolidated associates
and minority interests

GMA income

{1) GMA's results include eliminations of transactions among GMNA, GME, GMLAAM, and GMAP.

.22.

Three Months Ended

March 31
2000 1999
(Dollars in Millions)

$30,141 $28,068
1,922 2,097
615 665
(17) (24)
$1.290 $1.408
$6.834 $6.277
349 281
130 105
2 {2
$221 $174
$1,390 $1,033
(36) (58)
(23) (36)

14 3

§1 $(28)
$863 $647
27 (25)

10 (6)

(10 (41)
& $(&0)
$38,331 $35,363
2,263 2.315
732 735
(13) {70)
$1518 $1L510
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GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Vehicle Unit Deliveries of Cars and Trucks - GMA

GMNA
United States

Cars

Trucks

Total United States
Canada, Mexico, and Other

Total GMNA
GME
GMLAAM
GMAP

Total Worldwide

Whoiesale Sales

GMNA
Cars
Trucks
Total GMNA
GME
Cars
Trucks
Total GME
GMLAAM
Cars
Trucks
Total GMLAAM
GMAP
Cars
Trucks
Total GMAP

Total Worldwide

GMA Financial Review

Three Months Ended March 31,

2000 1999
GM as GMas
a % of a % of
Industry GM Industry Industry GM Industry
(Units in Thousands)
§2§; 244 38.9% 2,007 628 31.3%
2 39 8.3% 2,023 533 26.4°,
4,489 1,283 28.6% 4,030 1,161 28.8%
590 159 27.1% 549 153 27.7%
5,079 1,442 28.4% 4,579 1,314 28.7%
5,509 518 9.4% 5,306 508 9.6%
834 133 15.9% 794 125 15.8%
3,261 111 3.4% 3,165 112 3.5%
14683 2204  15.0% 13844 2089  14.9%
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2000 1999
(Units in Thousands) )
731 783
758 718 _
1,489 1,501 :
460 433
_39 37
299 370
92 75
43 47
135 122
39 38
Iz 54
116 92
2239 2185

GMA reported income of $1.5 billion which is consistent with the income reported in the prior year
quarter. Continued competitive pricing pressure and higher structural and engineering costs were offset
by higher wholesale sales volumes, improved mix, and further material cost reductions. These facotors
also contributed to the decrease in GMA's net margin to 4.0% for the first quarter of 2000 from 4.3% for

the first quarter of 1999,

Total net sales and revenues for GMA in the first quarter of 2000 were $38.3 billion compared with
$35.4 billion in the first quarter of 1999. The increase in net sales and revenues from the prior year
quarter was primarily due to a 54,000 unit increase in wholesale sales volumes. _

GMA’s worldwide vehicle deliveries were 2,204,000 for the first quarter of 2000, which represented a
market share of 15.0% compared with 2,059,000 for the first quarter of 1999, which represented a market

share of 14.9%.
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GMA Financial Review (conciuded)

GM is currently negotiating an agreement (which was announced in November 1999) with Commerce
One, a recognized leader in business-to-business electronic procurement solutions, for development of an
automotive focused e-commerce marketsite called the GM TradeXchange. In connection with this
agreement, GM, Ford Motor Company, and DaimlerChrysier Corporation jointly announcec on February
25, 2000 that they are planning to combine their efforts to form a business-to-business integrated supplier
exchange througha single global portal which will create the world's largest virtual marketpiace. The new
enterprise will offer open participation to all auto manufacturers around the world, and their respective
market of suppliers and dealers. Eventually, this marketplace could be expanded to encompass other
industries. The three automakers plan to have equal ownership in the new venture which would operate
as a separate independent business. A memorandum of agreement has been signed and requisite
governmentat approval will be sought shortly. Until then, GM TradeXchange will continue to offer its
services.

GMNA reported income of $1.3 billion for the first quarter of 2000 compared with $1.4 billion for the
prior year quaner. The decrease in GMNA's first quarter 2000 income was primarily due to increased
competitive pricing pressure, labor economics, and an increase in spending for product development
activity, partially offset by material cost reductions. Net price was slightly lower for the quarter at (0.7)%
year-over-year. Net price comprehends the percent increase/(decrease) a customer pays in the current
period for the same comparably equipped vehicle produced in the previous year s period. GMNA's market
share for the first quarter of 2000 was 28.4% compared with 28.7% for the first quarter of 1999.

GME reported income of $221 million for the first quarter of 2000 compared with $174 million for the
prior year quarter. The improvement in GME 's first quarter 2000 income was primarily due to higher
wholesale sales volumes related to the Zafira and Corsa, partially offset by increased pricing pressures,
as well as a shift of volumes from higher profit sales in Western Europe to lower profit sales in Central and
Eastern Europe.

During 1999, the European parliament began consideration of legislation regarding end-of-life vehicles -
and the responsibility of manufacturers of such vehicles for dismantling and recycling vehicles they have ”
soid. GME is currently assessing the impact of this potential legislation on their results of operations and
financial position.

GMLAAM reported incoms of $1 million for the first quarter of 2000 compared with a loss of $25
million for the prior year quarter. The increase in GMLAAM 's first quarter 2000 income compared to 1999
first quarter results was primarily due to higher wholesale sales volumes, nominal price increases, and
equity income improvements from several joint ventures in the region, partially offset by increased material
and freight costs driven by GM do Brasil's and its suppliers’ exposure to hard currencies and inflationary
factors, as well as increased manufacturing costs in preparation for the start of production at the Gravatai
Plant in Brazil.

GMAP reported income of $7 million for the first quarter of 2000 compared with a loss of $80 million
for the prior year quarter. The increase in GMAP 's first quarter 2000 income compared to first quarter
1999 results was primarily due to continued strong performance in Austratia by Holden and improved
equity earnings at Shanghai GM, which did not commence requiar production until Aprii 1999.

Hughes Financial Highlights

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2000 1999
(Dollars in Millions Except
Per Share Amounts)

Total net sales and revenues $2,118 $1.635
Pre-tax (loss) income (213) 133
income tax (benefit) expense (192) 36
Minority interests 8 7
Losses of nonconsolidated associates (69) (31)
Net (loss) income $ (82 $1723
(Losses) sarnings used for computation of Available
Separate Consolidated Net Income (1) $(101) $78

(Losses) earnings per share attributable
to Class H common stock $(0.23) $0.19

(1) Excludes amortization of GM purchase accounting adjustments of $5 million in both periods related to
GM's acquisition of HAC in 1985. Includes accrued preferred stock dividends of $25 million in the first
quarter of 2000.
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Hughes Financial Review

Total net sales and revenues for tha first quarter of 2000 increased to $2.1 billion, compared with $1.6
billion in the first quarter of 1999. The DIRECTV businesses contributed to the overall change with an
increase in revenues.of $619 million over the first quarter of 1999 that resulted from the addition of
510,000 new subscribers in the United States and Latin America since December 31, 1999, and added
revenues from PRIMESTAR By DIRECTV and premium channel services. PRIMESTAR medium-power
direct-to-home and@ United States Satellite Broadcasting Company, Inc. (USSB) premium channel services
businesses were acquired in mid-1999. Also contributing to the overall increase in net sales and revenues
was Hughes Network Systems, which shipped nearly 1 million DIRECTV receiver systems during the first
quarter of 2000 compared to about 0.2 million shipped in the first quarter of 1999 leading to an increase in
net sales and revenues of $134 million. PanAmSat also reported an increase in net sales and revenues of
$105 million due primarily to outright sales and sales-type leases of satellite transponders during the first
quarter of 2000. These increases in net sales and revenues were partially offset by a $266 million
decrease in net sales and revenuses at Hughes Space and Communications which was principally due to
decreased activity associated with a contract with ICO Global Communications Operations and a $155
million pre-tax gain related to the settiement of a patent infringement case included in 1999.

Hughes had a pre-tax loss of $213 miltion in the first quarter of 2000, compared with pre-tax income of
$133 million in the first quarter of 1999. The pre-tax loss for the first quarter of 2000 was primarily due to
a one-time pre-tax charge of $171 million related to an agreement with SkyPerfecTV! and discontinuation
of the DTVJ business, which is described below. Also contributing to the loss in the first quarter of 2000
was $99 million of higher depreciation and amortization expense due primarily to the 1999 PRIMESTAR
and USSB acquisitions. Pre-tax income for the first quarter of 1999 included a $155 million pre-tax gain
related to the settliement of a patent infringement case discussed above offset in part by a pre-tax charge
to earnings of $92 million resulting from the termination of a satellite systems contract with Asia Pacific
Mobile Telecommunications.

Hughes recognized an income tax benefit in the first quarter of 2000 of $192 million, compared to -
income tax expense of $36 million in the first quarter of 1999. The income tax benefit for the first quarter -
of 2000 reflects the $158 million tax benefit associated with the write-off of Hughes ' historical investments
in DTVJ and tax benefits resulting from increased operating losses in the first quarter of 2000.

Losses of nonconsolidated associates increased to $69 million in the first quarter of 2000, compared
with $31 miltion in the first quarter of 1999. The increase was primarily due to higher equity losses -
recorded for DTVJ due to Hughes' increased investment during the third quarter of 1999. ‘

(Losses) earnings used for computation of Available Separate Consolidated Net Income (Loss)
(ASCNI) in the first quarter of 2000 was a loss of $101 million, compared with earnings of $78 million in
the first quarter of 1999. ASCNI in the first quarter of 2000 included $25 million of accrued preferred
stock dividends. _

On March 1, 2000, Hughes announced that the operations of DTVJ, Hughes’ affiliate that provides
DIRECTV services in Japan, would be discontinued and that its subscribers would have the opportunity to
migrate during 2000 to SkyPerfecTV!, a company in Japan that provides direct-to-home satellite broadcast
services that is expected to complete an initial public offering during the third quarter of 2000. In
connection with the agreement, Hughes acquired an approximate 6.6% interest in SkyPerfecTV!. As a
result of the transaction, in the first quarter of 2000, Hughes wrote off its investment and accrued for the
estimated costs to exit the DTVJ business. The principal components of the accrued exit costs include
estimated subscriber migration and termination costs and costs to terminate certain leases, programming
agreements, and other long-term contractual commitments. These one-time charges were offset by the
estimated fair value of the SkyPerfecTV! interest acquired. The fair value of the SkyPerfecTV! interest
recorded was estimated based upon a preliminary independent appraisal, which is expected to be
completed within three to six months. Accordingly, the final amount of the fair value of the SkyPerfecTV!
investment recorded may be different from the amount reflected herein. The total loss related to DTVJ for
the first quarter of 2000, including Hughes’ share of DTVJ's operating losses was approximately $230
million. The after-tax impact was approximately $49 million. Hughes will continue to record its share of
DTVJ’s operating losses during the remainder of 2000. . )

On January 13, 2000, Hughes announced that it had reached an agreement to sell its satellite
systems manufacturing businesses to The Boeing Company for approximately $3.8 billion in cash. The
transaction, which is subject to regulatory approval, is expected to close in the third quarter of 2000 and
result in an after-tax gain in excess of $1.0 billion.
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Financing and Insurance Operations

Highlights of financial performance by GM's Financing and Insurance Operations business were as
follows for the three months ended March 31, (in millions):

: 2000 1999
Total net sales and revenues
GMAC $5,621 $4,827
Other 42 -85
Total net sales and revenues $5.663 $4912
Net income (loss)
GMAC $397 $392
Other (19) (19)
Total net income $378 $373
GMAC Financial Highlights
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2000 1999

(Dollars in Millions)
Financing revenues

Retail and lease financing $1,144 $1,006
Operating leases 2,012 1,795 .
Wholesale, commercial, and other loans 623 476 -
Total financing revenues 3,779 3.277
Interest and discount 1,910 1,513
Depreciation on operating leases 1 1.188
Net financing revenue 539 576 -
Mortgage revenue 860 728 i
Insurance premiums eamed 462 447
Other income 520 374
Net financing revenue and other 2,381 2,125
Expenses 1,750 1,484
Pre-tax income 631 641
income tax expense 234 249
Net income $397 $392
Net income from automotive and other financing operations $262 $229
Net income from insurance operations 62 65
Net income from mortgage operations 73 98
Net income $397 $392

GMAC Financial Review

Net income from automotive and other financing operations totaled $262 million, up 14% from the
$229 million earned in the first quarter of last year. Earnings were higher due primarily to higher asset
levels and favorable loss experience. These higher earnings were partially offset by the onset of
increased interest expense resulting from recent Federal Reserve rate increases. )

Insurance operations generated net income of $62 million in the first quarter of 2000, virtually
unchanged from the $65 million eamed in the first quarter of 1999. Increased volume was offset by storm-
related losses.

Mortgage operations eamed $73 million in the first quarter of 2000, down 26% from the record $98
million earned for the same period last year. The decline in year-over-year performance is due to the non-
recurrence of substantial benefits realized in the first quarter of 1999 that resulted from the securitization
and sale of mortgage assets.

During the first quarter of 2000, GMAC financed 45.3% of new GM vehicle retail deliveries in the
United States, up from 42.0% compared to the same period last year. The increase in financing
penetration was primarily the result of increased lease incentive programs sponsored by GM.

GMAC also provides wholesale financing for GM and other dealers' new and used vehicle inventories.
In the United States, inventory financing was provided for 866,000 new GM vehicles in 2000 and 868,000
new GM vehicles in 1999, representing 66.8% of all GM sales to U.S. dealers during the first quarter of
2000 and 1999. Wholesale penetration leveis remained stable as a result of continued competitive pricing
strategies by GMAC.
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GMAC Financial Review (conciuded)

Financing revenue totaled $3.8 billion in the first quarter of 2000, an increase of $502 million
compared with the first quarter of 1999. The growth was mainly due to higher average retail, wholesaie,
operating lease, and other loan receivable balances, which resulted primarily from strong GM saies levels
and continued GM-sponsored special financing programs.

Insurance premiums eamed totaled $462 million for the three months ended March 31, 2000, a $15
million increase over the comparable 1999 period. This increase was caused by higher volume in the
mechanical repair protection, personal auto, and property and casualty reinsurance lines of business.
These increases were partially offset by lower volume in commercial lines, primarily due to the July 1999
termination of an auto dealership program.

Mortgage revenue and other income totaled $1.4 billion for the three months ended March 31, 2000,
compared to $1.1 billion during the comparabie period a year ago. The change from the comparable
period in 1999 was mainly attributable to increases in mortgage servicing and processing fees and other
income: interest and servicing fees earned on receivables due from Automotive, Communications
Services, and Other Operations; and the inclusion of GMAC Commercial Credit LLC, which was acquired
in July 1999.

GMAC’s worldwide cost of borrowing, including the etfects of derivatives, for the first quarter of 2000
averaged 6.21% compared to 5.52% for the same period in 1999. Total borrowing costs for U.S.
operations averaged 6.32% for the first quarter of 2000, compared to 5.44% for the same period in 1999.
The increase in average borrowing costs was mainly a result of the steady increase in market interest
rates beginning in the third quarter of 1999.

Consolidated salaries and other operating expenses totaled $1.3 billion and $1.0 billion for the
respective quarters ended March 31, 2000 and 1999. The increase was mainly attributable to continued
growth and acquisitions at GMAC Mortgage Group, inc. during the last three quarters of 1999.
Additionaily, GMAC acquisitions during 1999 contributed to a rise in goodwill amortization.

_The eftective income tax rate was 37.1% and 38.8% for the three months ended March 31, 2000 and )
1999, respectively. The decline in the effective tax rate can be attributed to decreases in accruals from -
prior years based upon periodic assessment of the adequacy of such accrualis.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Automotive, Communications Services, and Other Operations .

Cash, marketable securities, and $3.0 billion of assets of the Voluntary Employees' Beneficiary
Association (VEBA) trust invested in fixed-income securities, at March 31, 2000, totaled $13.4 billion
compared with $14.4 billion at December 31, 1999 and $16.2 billion at March 31, 1999. The decrease
from December 31, 1999 is primarily due to a $1.0 billion cash equity injection in GMAC. The total VEBA
assets in the VEBA trust used to pre-fund part of GM ’s other postretirement benefits liability approximated
$6.3 billion at March 31, 2000, compared to $6.3 billion at December 31, 1998 and $4.6 billion at March
31, 1999.

Net liquidity, calculated as cash and marketable securities iess the total of loans payable and long-term
debt, was $(183) million at March 31, 2000, compared with $2.0 billion at December 31, 1999 and $5.3 billion
at March 31, 1999. GM previously indicated that it had a goal of maintaining $13.0 billion of cash and
marketable securities in order to continue funding product development programs throughout the next
downturn in the business cycle. This $13.0 billion target includes cash to pay certain costs that were pre-
funded in part by VEBA contributions. -

Long-term debt was $8.6 billion at March 31, 2000, compared to $7.4 billion at December 31, 1999
and $7.0 billion at March 31, 1999. The ratio of long-term debt to long-term debt and GM investment in
Automotive, Communications Services, and Other Operations was 47.6% at March 31, 2000, compared to
43.7% at December 31, 1999 and 51.4% at March 31, 1999. The ratio of long-term debt and short-term
loans payable to the total of this debt and GM investment was 52.9% at March 31, 2000, compared to
49.6% at December 31, 1999 and 54.3% at March 31, 1999.

Financing and Insurance Operations

GM'’s Financing and Insurance Operations are conducted by GMAC, certain of its subsidiaries, and
other financing entitiés operating in the U.S., Canada, Brazil, and Sweden which are not associated with
GMAC. At March 31, 2000, GMAC owned assets and serviced automotive receivables totaling $166.9
billion, $4.6 billion above year-end 1999, and $25.8 billion above March 31, 1999. The year-to-year
increase was principally the result of highes commercial and other loan rec_elvabl_es; serviced retgnl loan
receivables; operating lease assets; serviced wholesale loan receivabies; intangible assets; receivables
due from Automotive, Communications Services, and Other Operations; other assets; and factored
receivables. These increases were partially offset by a decline in real estate mortgages held for sale.
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Financing and Insurance QOperations (concluded)

Automotive and cemmercial finance receivables serviced by GMAC, including sold receivables,
totaled $100.1 billion at March 31, 2000, $3.1 billion above December 31, 1999 levels and $15.0 billion
above March 31, 1999 levels. The year-to-year increase was primarily a result of an $8.1 billion increase
in commercial and other loan receivables, a $4.9 billion increase in serviced retail loan receivables, and a
$2.5 billion increase in serviced wholesale loan receivables. The change in commercial and other loan
receivables was due to the acquisition of the asset-based lending and factoring business unit of The Bank
of New York Financial Corporation in July 1999 and increases in secured notes. Continued GM-
sponsored retail financing incentives contributed to the rise in serviced retail ioan receivables. The
increase in serviced wholesale loan receivables over the prior year was a resuit of an increase in dealer
inventory levels. The decrease in the on-balance sheet wholesale loan receivables was a result of two
sales of wholesale receivables during the second half of 1998,

GMAC's liquidity, as well as its ability to profit from ongoing acquisition activity, is in large part
dependent upon its timely access to capital and the costs associated with raising funds in different
segments of the capital markets. In this regard, GMAC regularty accesses the short-term, medium-term,
and long-term debt markets, principally through commercial paper, notes, and underwritten transactions.

As of March 31, 2000, GMAC's total borrowings were $123.2 billion, compared with $121.2 billion and
$105.3 billion at December 31, 1999 and March 31, 1999, respectively. The increased borrowings since
March 31, 1999 were used to fund increased earning asset levels. GMAC 's ratio of total debt to total
stockholder's equity at March 31, 2000 was 9.5:1, compared to 10.9:1 at December 31, 1999, and 10.5:1
atMarch 31, 1999. The decline was due to capital contributions from GM totaling $1.5 billion during the
first quarter of 2000.

GMAC and its subsidiaries maintain substantial bank lines of credit which totaled $45.8 biltion at
March 31, 2000, compared to $46.2 billion at year-end 1999 and $42.0 billion at March 31, 1999. The
unused portion of these credit lines totaled $36.5 billion at March 31, 2000, $963 million and $4.1 billion -
higher than December 31 and March 31, 1999, respectively. Inciuded in the unused credit lines at March -
31, 2000, 1s a $14.7 billion syndicated muiti-currency global credit facility available for use in the U.S. by
GMAC and in Europe, by GMAC International Finance B.V. and GMAC (UK) plc. The entire $14.7 bilion
is available to GMAC in the U.S., $900 million is available to GMAC (UK) plc and $750 million is available
to GMAC International Finance B.V. At March 31, 1999, syndicated revolving credit facilities of $11.2 :
billion were available for use by these entities. The syndicated credit tacility serves for GMAC 's ’
unsecured commercial paper programs. Also included in the unused credit lines is a $12.0 billion U.S.
asset-backed commercial paper liquidity and receivables facility for New Center Asset Trust, a non-
consolidated limited purpose business trust established to issue asset-backed commercial paper.

Book Value Per Share

Book value per share of $1-2/3 par value common stock was $29.42 at March 31, 2000, compared
with $27.02 at December 31, 1999 and $22.40 at March 31, 1899. Book value per share of GM Class H
common stock was $17.65 at March 31, 2000, compared with $16.21 at December 31, 1999 and $13.44
at March 31, 1999. Book value per share was determined based on the liquidation rights of the various
classes of common stock.

Return on Net Assets (RONA)

As part of its shareholder value initiatives, GM has adopted RONA as a performance measure to _
heighten management's focus on balance sheet investments and the return on those investments. GM 's
RONA caiculation is based on principles established by management and approved by the GM Board.
GM's 2000 first quarter RONA for continuing operations on an annualized basis, excluding Hughes, was
15.9%.

CASH FLOWS
Automotive, Communications Services, and Other Operations

Net cash provided by operating activities was $2.4 billion for the first quarter of 2000 compared with
$9.2 bitlion for the first quarter of 1999. The decrease in =2 cash provided by operating activities for the
first quarter 2000 compared to the first quarter 1999 was primarily the result of decreases in operating
liabilities. These decreases were primarily refated to an extension of the payment terms in the first quarter
of 1999.

Net cash used in investing activities amounted to $3.8 billion for the first quarter of 2000 compared
with $4.9 billion for the first quarter of 1999. The decrease in net cash used in investing activities during
the first quarter of 2000 was primarily attributable to decreased cash used for investments in companies
and investments in marketable securities and operating leases, partially offset by a $1.0 billion cash equity
injection in GMAC.
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CASH FLOWS

Automotive, Communications Services, and Other Operations (concluded)

Net cash used in.financing activities was $187 million for the first quarter of 2000 compared with $1.4
billion for the first quarter of 1999. The decrease in net cash used for financing activities for the first
quarter 2000 was primarily due to reduced stock repurchases as a result of the Corporation completing its
$4.0 billion stock répurchase program in 1999, and increases in loans payable and long-term debt.

Financing and insurance Operations

Net cash provided by operating activities totaled $3.7 billion and $5.9 billion during the three months
ended March 31, 2000 and 19899, respectively. The reduction in operating cash flow was primarily the
result of a reduction in the net proceeds from sales of mortgage loans and an increase in miscelianeous
assets, partiaily offset by a decrease in the origination/purchases of mortgage loans.

Net cash used for investing activities during the first quarter of 2000 totaled $6.7 billion, a $1.6 billion
increase compared to the same period last year. Net cash used increased primarily as a result of net
increases in acquisitions of finance receivables and operating leases, partially offset by increased
proceeds from sales of finance receivables.

Net cash provided by financing activities during the three months ended March 31, 2000 totated $3.6
billien, compared with net cash used of $922 million during the comparable 1999 period. The change was
primarily the result of increases in short-term loans payable and a $1.0 billion cash equity injection from
Automotive, Communications Services, and Other Operations, partially offset by a net decrease in long-
term debt.

Dividends

Dividends may be paid on common stocks only when, as, and if declared by the GM Board in its sole
discretion. GM's policy is to distribute dividends on its $1-2/3 par value common stock based on the
outiook and indicated capital needs of the business. In February 2000, the GM Board declared a quarterly
cash dividend of $0.50 per share on $1-2/3 par value common stock, paid March 10, 2000 to holders of T
record as of February 11, 2000. The GM Board also declared quarterty dividends on the Series D and ’
Series G Depositary Shares of $0.495 and $0.57 per share, respectively, paid May 1, 2000, to holders of
record on April 3, 2000. With respect to GM Class H common stock, the GM Board determined that it will
not pay any cash dividends at this time in order to allow the eamings of Hughes to be retained for
investment in its telecommunications and space businesses. A quarterly dividend of $8.7793 per share
for the GM Series H 6.25% Automatically Convertible Preference Stock was paid May 1, 2000, to the
holder of record on April 3, 2000.

Employment and Payrolls

Worldwide employment at March 31, (in thousands) . 2000 1999
GMNA 214 222
GME 90 81
GMLAAM 23 23
GMAP 11 10
GMAC ’ 26 24
Hughes 18 16
Other 13 11

Total employees 395 387
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2000 1999
Worldwide payrolls - (in billions) $5.5 $5.4
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New Accounting Standard

In June 1999, the Financial Accourting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 137, Accounting for Derivative instruments and Hedging Activities -
Deferral of the Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 133 — an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 133.
This statement defers, for one year, the effective date of SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Denvative
Instruments and Hedging Activities, to those fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2000. SFAS No. 133
requires all derivafives to be recorded as either assets or liabilities and the instruments to be measured at
fair value. Gains or losses resulting from changes in the values of those derivatives are to be recognized
immediately or deferred depending on the use of the derivative and whether or not it qualifies as a hedge.
GM will adopt SFAS No. 133 by January 1, 2001, as required. Management is currently assessing the
impact of this statement on GM's resuits of operations and financial position.

rerar TN
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